FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/5/2019 1:38 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/6/2019
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. <u>97829-8</u> Court of Appeals no. 77513-8-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

HEATHER ANNE ALEXANDER,

Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A. FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

#

#### III. ISSUE

An item can be searched incident to arrest if it is in the "actual and exclusive possession" of the arrestee. Does this cover items that are in the arrestee's immediate possession, if the person is not holding, wearing, or carrying them at the time of arrest?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2017, Officer Troy Moss of the Everett Police received a report that people were trespassing in a wooded area behind a building. On arriving there, he saw two people, a man and a woman. There were several "no trespassing" signs in the area. The woman was the defendant, Heather Alexander. 3.5/3.6 hg. RP 5-7. The man later identified himself as "Slater." <u>Id.</u> at 10.

The defendant and the man were sitting three or four feet apart. 3.5/3.6 hg. RP 9. A backpack was laying on a log directly behind the defendant. It appeared to Officer Moss that the backpack was touching her back. Because the defendant was in between the officer and the backpack, he "couldn't tell if it was precisely touching her." <u>Id.</u> at 16-17. Officer Moss asked the defendant if the backpack was hers. She said that it was. <u>Id.</u> at 11-12, 17-18.

Officer Moss told the people why he was there. He asked them for identification. The defendant produced a Washington ID card. On calling dispatch, Officer Moss learned that there was an outstanding warrant for her arrest. 3.5/3.6 hg. RP 9-10.

Officer Moss arrested the defendant and seated her in his patrol vehicle. 3.5/3.6 hg. RP 12-13. The man offered to take the backpack, and the defendant agreed to that offer. Id. at 19. Officer Moss refused that offer and proceeded to search the backpack. In it, he found baggies that appeared to contain a controlled substance. Id. at 13. Later tests confirmed that at least one of the baggies held methamphetamine. 2 RP 174.

The defendant was charged with possession of a controlled substance. CP 119. She moved to suppress the evidence found in

the backpack. CP 106-13. Following a hearing, the court denied the motion. CP 93-95. A jury found the defendant guilty. CP 46.

The Court of Appeals reversed the conviction. It held that the defendant was not in "actual and exclusive possession of her backpack at the time or immediately preceding her arrest." This was because there was "no evidence that [she] was holding, wearing, or carrying the backpack at any time during her contact with Officer Moss." State v. Alexander, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 449 P.3d 1070, 1075 ¶ 22. The court therefore held that the evidence resulting from the search should have been suppressed. Id. at 1076 ¶ 24.

# V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE COURT OF APPEALS HAS CREATED NEW LIMITATIONS ON SEARCHES INCIDENT TO ARREST, WHICH ARE INCONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS AND THE COURT OF APPEALS' OWN PRIOR ANALYSIS.

This case raises an important question about the permissible scope of a search incident to arrest. The limits of such a search were explained by this court in <u>State v. Brock</u>, 184 Wn.2d 148, 355 P.3d 1118 (2015). The search can include "those personal effects immediately associated with [the arrestee's] person—such as purses, backpacks, or even luggage." <u>Id.</u> at 154 ¶ 11. Authority to

search "turns on whether the arrestee had actual and exclusive possession at or immediately preceding the time of arrest." <u>Id.</u> ¶ 12.

In this case, the item searched was a backpack — one of the items specifically listed in <u>Brock</u> as a personal effect immediately associated with the arrestee's person. That backpack belonged to the defendant. 3.5/3.6 hg RP 12. At the time of the arrest, it was lying on a log directly behind her. It appeared to the arresting officer that it was touching her. 3.5/3.6 hg RP 11. If it was not, it was only a miniscule distance away. No one else had any possession of it. These circumstances establish that it was in her actual and exclusive possession, so as to justify a search incident to arrest under Brock.

The Court of Appeals held, however, that this is not enough. According to the Court, the search was not justified because the defendant was not "holding, wearing, or carrying the [item] during her contact with [the officer.]" Alexander, 449 P.3d at 1075 ¶ 22. As it happens, this circumstance existed in each of the cases so far reviewed by this court. See Brock, 184 Wn.2d at 151 ¶ 2 (backpack carried by arrestee); State v. MacDicken, 179 Wn.2d 936, 938 ¶ 1, 319 P.3d 31 (2014) (laptop bag carried by arrestee and duffle bag pushed by him); State v. Byrd, 178 Wn.2d 611, 615 ¶ 3, 310 P.3d

793 (2013) (purse in arrestee's lap). Nothing in these cases, however, indicates that this fact was necessary to justify the ensuing search.

Rather, this court's analysis in <u>Byrd</u> indicates a contrary conclusion. The court cited a Federal case as a situation in which "the arrestee [had] actual possession of [an item] at the time of a lawful custodial arrest." <u>Byrd</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 621 ¶ 19, citing <u>United States v. Tavolacci</u>, 895 F.2d 1423, 1428-29 (D.C. Cir. 1990). At the time of the arrest in <u>Tavolacci</u>, the luggage was on a train platform near the defendant. The court upheld this search because "the defendant had control of the suitcase until moments before the search." <u>Tavolacci</u>, 895 F.2d at 1429. There was no requirement that the luggage be carried by the defendant.

In the present case, the Court of Appeals distinguished Tavolacci on the basis that the arrestee "was carrying his suitcase during his interaction with law enforcement." Alexander, 449 P.3d at 1076 ¶ 25. The court failed to note that he did this at the direction of the arresting officers. Tavolacci, 895 F.2d at 1424 (officers "directed [Tavolacci] to get off the train with his bag"). Surely this cannot be a meaningful distinction. Is the Court of Appeals suggesting that the

search in the present case would have been lawful if the officer had ordered the defendant to pick up her backpack?

Nor has Division One itself adhered to the "holding, wearing, or carrying" requirement. This is clear from an unpublished decision written by the same judge earlier this year: State v. Castoerna Gonzalez, no. 77162-1-I, 2019 WL 2118401, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1007 (2019). (For the court's convenience, a copy of this decision is attached as Appendix B.) There, police encountered the defendant alone in a small bathroom, with a backpack and other items on the floor. They removed the defendant from the bathroom and piled his belongings outside. They then developed probable cause to arrest him. At the moment of the arrest, the defendant was reaching towards the pile of items to pick them up. The court held that the backpack could properly be searched incident to the arrest. In so holding, the court specifically rejected an argument that "physical contact is required for actual possession." Id. \* 4. It is hard to see the difference between the Gonzalez case and the present case.

This court has attempted to draw a "bright line" between search of the arrestee's person and search of property that is not immediately associated with the person. Byrd, 178 Wn.2d at 798 ¶

18. Under the Court of Appeals analysis, however, the line is anything but bright. There is no way for a police officer to understand whether he or she is or is not authorized to search a suspect's personal item pursuant to arrest.

The Court of Appeals also said that searching the backpack was unnecessary because the defendant wanted to have it given to her companion. Alexander, 449 P.3d at 1076 ¶ 23. This occurred after the defendant was arrested. This court has held that the right to search is determined by the arrestee's possession "at or immediately preceding the time of arrest." Brock, 184 Wn.2d at 154 ¶ 12. It has never held that a search can be prevented by the arrestee's post-arrest actions. It would create serious safety concerns for a police officer to hand an unsearched item to a suspect's companion. If such a rule exists, police officers need to know so that they can comply with it.

The Court of Appeals has created new restrictions on searches incident to arrest. Those restrictions go well beyond the limitations set out by this court in <u>Brock</u>. Police need clear guidance on what limitations govern searches incident to arrest. The scope of such limitations presents a significant question of constitutional law

and an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

# VI. CONCLUSION

This court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and reinstate the trial court's judgment.