FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2020 4:34 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97829-8 (Court of Appeals No. 77513-8-I)

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

HEATHER ALEXANDER,

Respondent.

**ANSWER** 

Jessica Wolfe Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

# **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

When Heather Alexander was arrested, she was sitting on a log next to her friend with a backpack lying behind her, the straps facing down. Although Ms. Alexander acknowledged the backpack belonged to her, the arresting officer did not observe the backpack touching her. Her friend offered to take the backpack as Ms. Alexander was going to jail. However, the officer insisted he would search all of Ms. Alexander's personal property, including the backpack, as a search incident to arrest. The search revealed a small amount of methamphetamine.

The Court of Appeals correctly held this was not a valid search incident to arrest under article I, section 7 of the state constitution. The Court of Appeals properly relied on this Court's decisions in *Byrd*, *MacDicken*, and *Brock* that the item to be searched must be in the arrestee's "actual and exclusive possession." The State now petitions for review, but fails to demonstrate the Court of Appeals' opinion is anything more than a straightforward application of this Court's precedent.

Accordingly, Ms. Alexander asks that this Court deny review.

#### **B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Under Article I, Section 7, a warrantless search incident to arrest may include personal items immediately associated with the arrestee. The item to be searched must be within the arrestee's actual and exclusive

possession at or immediately preceding the time of arrest. Here, Ms. Alexander was sitting next to a friend with a backpack lying behind her, but not clearly touching her, when she was arrested. Accordingly, she did not have actual and exclusive possession of the backpack. Did the Court of Appeals correctly hold the warrantless search violated article I, section 7 of the state constitution?

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Everett Police Officer Troy Moss responded to a trespassing call involving a vacant lot behind a business. CP 93. Upon arriving, Officer Moss saw Delane Slater and Heather Alexander seated close to each other on a log in the lot. CP 93–94. Officer Moss informed Mr. Slater and Ms. Alexander they were trespassing and checked their names for outstanding warrants. CP 94. During the interaction, Officer Moss noticed a backpack lying on the ground behind Ms. Alexander with the straps facing down. RP 11. Officer Moss couldn't tell if the backpack was touching Ms. Alexander. RP 18. Ms. Alexander acknowledged the backpack belonged to her. CP 94.

Officer Moss discovered Ms. Alexander had an outstanding

Department of Corrections warrant and placed her under arrest. CP 94.

Officer Moss told Mr. Slater, who did not present any safety concerns, to leave the vacant lot. CP 94, 116; RP 22. Mr. Slater asked Ms. Alexander

if she wanted him to take the backpack since she was going to jail. CP 94, 116. She agreed. CP 94. However, Officer Moss stated he would search all of Ms. Alexander's personal property incident to arrest. CP 94, 116.

Officer Moss handcuffed Ms. Alexander, conducted a "quick safety sweep," and escorted her to the back of the patrol car. RP 12; CP 116. Officer Moss also carried the backpack and placed it on the top of the trunk of the car. RP 13. A search of the backpack revealed a small amount of methamphetamine, and Ms. Alexander was charged with a single count of possessing a controlled substance, committed while on community custody. CP 116, 119.

Prior to trial, Ms. Alexander moved to suppress the methamphetamine, arguing the search of the backpack was not a valid search incident to arrest. CP 106–11. Specifically, she argued she was not in actual possession of the backpack at the time of arrest. CP 109. The trial court denied the motion, ruling that safety concerns permitted the search. CP 95. However, the trial court did not find Ms. Alexander had actual possession of the backpack at any point during the arrest. *See* CP 93–95 Ms. Alexander was convicted after a jury trial. CP 45.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals found the search was unconstitutional under article I, section 7 of the state constitution. *See State v. Alexander*, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, 449 P.3d 1070, 1072 (2019). The

Court held Officer Moss' search of the backpack was not a valid search of Ms. Alexander's person incident to arrest. *See id.* Relying on this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals recognized "the arrestee's person is limited to those items that are within the arrestee's actual and exclusive possession at or immediately preceding the time of arrest." *Id.* at 1076 (citing *State v. Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d 611, 623, 310 P.3d 793 (2013)). The Court of Appeals determined Ms. Alexander did not have actual and exclusive possession of the backpack at the time of arrest, as it was "merely sitting behind her" and she was not "holding, wearing, or carrying the backpack at any time during her contact with Officer Moss." *Id.* at 1075. The Court of Appeals rejected the State's argument to the contrary, noting "the State cites no authority for the proposition that proximity and ownership alone constitute actual and exclusive possession." *Id.* 

The State now petitions for review.

#### D. ARGUMENT

"[W]arrantless searches are unreasonable per se" under article I, section 7 of the state constitution. *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 70, 917 P.2d 563 (1996) (citations and quotation marks omitted). There are a few "jealously and carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement" where the societal costs of obtaining a warrant—such as danger to law enforcement or the risk of destruction of evidence—

outweigh the reasons for the warrant requirement. *State v. Villela*, \_\_ Wn. \_\_, 450 P.3d 170, 174 (2019) (citations and quotation marks omitted); *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 70. The State bears the burden of demonstrating that a warrantless search or seizure falls within the scope of one of the narrow exceptions to the rule. *See Villela*, 450 P.2d at 71.

One exception to the warrant requirement is a search incident to arrest. *Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 616–17. There are two kinds of searches incident to arrest: "(1) a search of the arrestee's person (including those personal effects immediately associated with his or her person—such as purses, backpacks, or even luggage) and (2) a search of the area within the arrestee's immediate control." *State v. Brock*, 184 Wn.2d 148, 154, 355 P.3d 1118 (2015).

The "immediate control" search exception applies only when the arrestee is "unsecured and within reaching distance" of the item to be searched, and is intended to protect arresting officers and safeguard evidence the arrestee might conceal or destroy. *See Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332, 343–44, 129 S. Ct. 1710, 173 L. Ed. 2d 485 (2009). The "immediate control" search exception does not apply to the case at bar as Ms. Alexander was both handcuffed and beyond the reach of the backpack at the time of the search. RP 12–13.

Thus the only issue presented by this case is whether Officer Moss's search of the backpack was a proper search of Ms. Alexander's person and immediately associated personal effects. *See Brock*, 184 Wn.2d at 154. This search exception "does not extend to all articles in an arrestee's constructive possession, but only those personal articles in the arrestee's *actual and exclusive possession* at or immediately preceding the time of arrest." *Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 623 (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the trial court did not find Ms. Alexander had actual and exclusive possession of the backpack at the time of arrest. *See Alexander*, 449 P.3d at 1075; *see also* CP 93–95. In the absence of such a finding, this Court must indulge the presumption the State failed to meet its "heavy burden" on the issue. *See id.* (citing *State v. Parker*, 139 Wn.2d 486, 496, 987 P.2d 73 (1999) and *State v. Armenta*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997)).

The Court of Appeals went further, engaging in a careful analysis of this Court's precedent applying the "actual and exclusive possession" rule to the facts of this case. *See Alexander*, 449 P.3d at 1073–76. Specifically, the Court of Appeals analyzed three seminal cases decided by this Court in the past decade: *Byrd*, *MacDicken*, and *Brock*. *See id*.

In *Byrd*, the defendant had a purse containing methamphetamine in her lap at the time of arrest. 178 Wn.2d at 615. Based on those facts, this

Court upheld the search, reasoning "Byrd's purse was unquestionably an article 'immediately associated' with her person" because "[t]he purse left Byrd's hands only after her arrest." *Id.* at 623–24.

In *State v. MacDicken*, the defendant was arrested in a hotel while carrying a laptop bag and pushing a rolling duffle bag. 179 Wn.2d 936, 939, 319 P.3d 31 (2014). As the handcuffed defendant stood next to a patrol car, an officer searched the bags. *Id.* This Court upheld the search as the bags were in the defendant's "actual and exclusive possession" at the time of the arrest. *Id.* at 942.

Finally, in *Brock*, the defendant was stopped by an officer while wearing a backpack. 184 Wn.2d at 151. The officer removed the backpack and placed it on his vehicle for safety reasons. *Id.* at 152. After the defendant gave what the officer determined was a false name, the officer arrested the defendant and searched the backpack, finding drugs. *Id.* 151–53. This Court again upheld the search, noting the defendant "wore the backpack at the very moment he was stopped" and "[t]he arrest process began" once the officer informed the defendant he was not free to leave. *Id.* at 159.

As the Court of Appeals recognized below, the justification in each of these three cases was the searched item was an extension of the defendant's person because they were "holding, wearing, or carrying" the

item. *Alexander*, 449 P.3d at 1075. Here, Ms. Alexander's backpack "was merely sitting behind her at the time of her arrest." *See id.*Accordingly, the Court of Appeals concluded "at most . . . Alexander could immediately have reduced the backpack to her actual possession, i.e., [] Alexander had dominion and control—and thus *constructive* possession—over the backpack . . . . But actual and exclusive possession, not merely constructive possession, is required under the time-of-arrest rule." *Id.* at 1075 (citing *State v. Staley*, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994), *State v. Jones*, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002), and *Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 623) (emphasis in the original).

The Court of Appeals' opinion is a straightforward application of this Court's precedent. In contrast, the State's petition for review urges an unwarranted expansion of a narrow exception, relying on dissimilar and non-binding caselaw.

The State argues the search was valid because the item searched was a backpack, "one of the items specifically listed in *Brock* as a personal effect immediately associated with the arrestee's person." Petition for Review at 4. However, the "time-of-arrest" rule does not contemplate all personal items within a specific class are searchable upon arrest. The rule mandates the item be in the arrestee's "actual and exclusive possession at or immediately preceding the time of arrest." *Brock*, 184 Wn.2d at 154

(citing *Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 623). *Brock* merely listed a backpack as *an example* of the type of item that could be within an arrestee's actual and exclusive possession, along with purses and luggage. *See id.* The State's assertion that *all* backpacks are subject to search incident to arrest would unnecessarily expand an exception intended to be "jealously guarded." *Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 623.

The State also asserts Ms. Alexander's ownership of the backpack, coupled with the fact that "no one else had any possession of it," was sufficient to establish "actual and exclusive" possession. Brief of Respondent at 4. However, ownership is irrelevant to the search incident to arrest rule. *See MacDicken*, 179 Wn.2d at 939 (upholding a search of a stolen laptop bag). Further, the rule requires the *arrestee* must have actual and exclusive possession; it is not a rule of default possession because no one else has actual and exclusive possession at the time of arrest. *See Byrd*, 178 Wn.2d at 623.

As it did below, the State insists this case is analogous to *United*States v. Tavolacci, 895 F.2d 1423 (D.C. Cir. 1990), a federal case which received a passing string citation in *Byrd*. See 178 Wn.2d at 621.

Tavolacci involved a search of luggage carried by the arrestee, and *Byrd* cited it as part of an illustrative list cases involving personal items that

could be considered "immediately associated" with an arrestee's person.

See id.

However, as the Court of Appeals pointed out below, *Tavolacci* is more analogous to *Byrd*, *MacDicken*, and *Brock*, in which the item searched was carried by the arrestee at the time of arrest. *See Alexander*, 449 P.3d at 1076. The Court also noted that, as a federal case interpreting the federal constitution, *Tavolacci* is "not binding in any event." *See id*. The State's reliance on an unpublished Court of Appeals decision is similarly not binding and thus does not, as the State suggests, create a split in Division One. *See* Petition for Review at 6 (citing *State v. Castoerna-Gonzalez*, 2019 WL 118401, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1006 (Jan. 7, 2019) (unpublished)); GR 14.1 ("Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court.").

The Court of Appeals applied this Court's precedent in correctly holding the search of Ms. Alexander's backpack exceeded the scope of the time-of-arrest rule. The State's arguments to the contrary would "erode the distinction between the arrestee's person and the arrestee's grab area." *Alexander*, 449 P.3d at 1075. This Court should deny review.

## **E. CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the State's

Petition for Review.